FILED SID J. WHITE MAY 11 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 80,117 [TFB Case No.91-31,398 (18D)]

v.

WILLIAM F. LAWLESS,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 217395

and

JAN K. WICHROWSKI The Florida Bar 880 North Orange Avenue Suite 200 Orlando, Florida 32801 (407) 425-5424 Attorney No. 381586

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 6, 1992, the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "D" voted to find probable cause against the respondent. The bar filed its formal complaint on July 7, 1992. The respondent filed an answer to the bar's complaint on July 27, 1992. The bar propounded requests for admission on July 30, 1992, and the respondent filed his response on August 31, 1992.

The final hearing was held January 7, 1993. On February 22, 1993, the referee issued a report of referee recommending the respondent be found quilty of the following Rules of Professional Conduct: 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing clients; 4-5.3 for failing to make reasonable efforts to ensure that a nonlawyer employee's conduct is compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer; and 4-8.4(a) for violating or attempting to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct. The referee recommended the respondent be found not quilty of Rules of Discipline 3-4.3 for engaging in conduct contrary to honesty and justice; and the following Rules of Professional Conduct: 4-8.4(c) for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation; and 4 - 8.4(d)the for engaging in conduct prejudicial to administration of justice. The last recommendation was in relation to the referee's finding that the respondent was not guilty of making misrepresentations to the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS) concerning the Seguins' status regarding their travel between the United States and Canada.

-1-

The referee made the following disciplinary recommendations: ninety (90) days suspension followed by a three (3) year period of probation; payment of costs incurred by The Florida Bar; that the respondent remove the words "immigration law" from his letterhead unless he has been certified by The Florida Bar to have special expertise in that area or in any other area of law; that the respondent disassociate himself from supervising any paralegals in his practice in the future; that the respondent refrain from splitting fees with any nonlawyer; that the respondent successfully complete a course in legal ethics during the period of his probation; that the respondent remove his name from the list of lawyers maintained by any lawyer referral service; that the respondent be required to completely reimburse Mr. and Mrs. Seguin for all fees and costs they paid to Charles Aboudraah, said reimbursement to be accomplished during the respondent's three (3) year probationary period. Interest would not be required on this amount totaling \$12,546.00.

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar considered this case at its meeting which ended April 2, 1993. The board voted to appeal the referee's recommendations as to discipline and to seek a suspension requiring proof of rehabilitation in view of the respondent's significant prior discipline history. The bar filed its Petition For Review on April 7, 1993, and the respondent filed a cross-petition for review seeking lesser discipline on April 19, 1993.

-2-

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Michael and Barbara Seguin retained the respondent on or about January 22, 1987. Although they were Canadian citizens, the Seguins were seeking permanent residency status in the United States. The respondent agreed to seek permanent residency status for Michael Seguin for a flat fee of \$5,000.00 plus expenses, T-13-15, Florida Bar Exhibit 1. The Seguins chose the respondent as their attorney because of the three lawyers suggested by a lawyer referral service, the respondent was the only one who expressed confidence in gaining permanent residency status, T-14,72. The Seguins had no expertise regarding the immigration process, T-16,72. The Seguins also paid the respondent \$300.00 to set up a corporation as the respondent advised them the corporation was necessary in order to apply for a labor certificate from the Department of Labor for Mr. Seguin, T-27. Mr. Lawless was attempting to gain permanent residency status for Michael Seguin by certifying Mr. Seguin as a specialist in a job position which was unique and of service in the United States. He theorized that Mr. Seguin's wife would automatically be allowed permanent residency status through her husband, T-16. As agreed, the Seguins gave the respondent a check payable in the amount of \$2,500.00 for one-half of the retainer on January 22, 1987, T-16. The respondent introduced them to his assistant, Charles Aboudraah. The respondent advised that Mr. Aboudraah was a nonlawyer assistant who had great expertise and knew

-3-

influential people in immigration matters. The respondent showed the Seguins many "green cards", in other clients' files in order to demonstrate Mr. Aboudraah's successful track record, T-17 and T-70-71,74. The respondent told the Seguins that they should contact Mr. Aboudraah directly concerning any immigration matters as Mr. Aboudraah would mainly be handling the case, but that the respondent would supervise his progress, T-18. The respondent further advised that the process of obtaining permanent residency would take approximately six (6) to nine (9) months, Florida Bar Exhibit 1.

Thereafter Mr. Aboudraah requested more money from the Seguins. He told them the money was required for filing fees, his traveling expenses, and to generally expedite matters, T-22, T-24-25. On March 19, 1987, the Seguins paid \$725.00 in cash directly to Mr. Aboudraah as he advised that a visa application for Barbara Seguin was required, Florida Bar Exhibit 3, T-21-22. On April 3, 1987, \$1,472.00 was paid to Mr. Aboudraah from the Seguins' personal money market account, Florida Bar Exhibit 5. On May 28, 1987, \$3,000.00 was paid to Mr. Aboudraah by check from the Seguins' personal money market account, Florida Bar Exhibit 2, T-19. In total, from March 19, 1987, to January 18, 1988, the Seguins paid directly to Mr. Aboudraah \$5,312.00. Mr. Aboudraah also received half of the \$2,500.00 fee already paid the respondent on January 22, 1987. Additionally, the respondent was paid \$115.00 and \$240.00 for his assistance in setting up a

-4-

corporation, T-26, 100, Florida Bar Composite Exhibit 5. In February, 1988, the Seguins paid Mr. Aboudraah a final check in the amount of \$7,234.00, Florida Bar Exhibit 4, T-24. Mr. Aboudraah advised the Seguins this was the final payment in their immigration matter and that it included the \$2,500.00 balance owed the respondent for the last half of his \$5,000.00 fee, т-23-25. At the time of their February, 1988, payment Mr. Aboudraah advised the Seguins that all of their paperwork had been filed with the Immigration and Naturalization Service and that they were merely waiting for the INS to send them the proper visa cards. During the pendency of this immigration process, the Seguins spoke on numerous occasions with the respondent. The Seguins were concerned that the process cost much more and took much longer than the six to nine months originally promised. However, the respondent assured them that Mr. Aboudraah was properly handling their case, T-25, 30-32. The respondent represented to them that he was supervising Mr. Aboudraah's work on their case. The respondent and the Seguins did not specifically discuss Mr. Aboudraah's additional fees, T-24-26, 30-32, 66-67.

In or around January, 1990, the Seguins received a letter from the INS which indicated that their counsel had failed to comply with previous requests for information. They contacted Mr. Aboudraah with great concern about this and were told the matter was being taken care of, T-31-33. The respondent

-5-

continued to express his confidence in Mr. Aboudraah's abilities, T-33. He never advised the Seguins to question the fact that their case had taken much longer than he had initially advised them or suggested that they should stop contacting Mr. Aboudraah about their case, T-33-35.

Soon thereafter the Seguins learned that Mr. Aboudraah was being investigated by the INS. Mr. Lawless continued to reassure them, telling them that the INS investigation had found nothing improper regarding Mr. Aboudraah. Mr. Aboudraah became less available to the Seguins and ultimately closed his law office without prior notice, T-35. Mr. Aboudraah was ultimately sentenced in July, 1991, in federal court for providing false information in an immigration matter, T-188, Respondent's Exhibit 8. The Seguins were contacted by the respondent who associated with another nonlawyer, Will Reed, on the case, T-35. The respondent discovered there was no application on file for either Michael or Barbara Seguin and that their applications had been returned by the INS in late 1989, T-36. At this point, the respondent advised the Seguins that the labor certification method was inappropriate and that he would assist them in applying for E-2 investor visas since the Seguins had invested a substantial amount in their business which had been operating in the United States since 1986, T-36. This was a temporary residential status rather than the permanent status suggested earlier. Ultimately the respondent did obtain E-2 visas for the

-6-

Seguins. However, the Seguins sought other counsel because the respondent appeared to them to be uninformed about the process, T-38,79.

The Florida Bar charged the respondent with making a misrepresentation to INS in regard to whether the Seguins had traveled between two countries. This was relevant since the Seguins had not left the United States since their original entry and it would have been necessary for them to file for the visas with the Canadian Embassy. Further the Seguins' new attorney felt it was necessary to reapply for the E-2 visas stating the correct facts, that they had not left the country, if the visas were to be legitimate, T-156-158. The referee found the respondent not guilty of misrepresentation in this regard.

The referee found that the respondent failed to adequately supervise his nonlawyer employee and found him guilty of violating Rules of Professional Conduct 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing clients; 4-5.3 for failing to make reasonable efforts to ensure that a nonlawyer employee's conduct is compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer; and 4-8.4(a) for violating or attempting to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct.

-7-

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent neglected his clients' immigration case. He failed to supervise his nonlawyer employee while the employee misled the clients about the status of their case and fraudulently procured large sums of money from the clients.

Respondent has a significant prior discipline history. Two of the prior three instances of discipline involve the same nonlawyer employee as in this matter. Respondent has failed to realize the importance of high ethical standards. Nothing less than a ninety-one (91) day suspension, requiring proof of rehabilitation prior to reinstatement, is sufficient in this case.

-8-

ARGUMENT

A NINETY-ONE (91) DAY SUSPENSION REQUIRING PROOF OF REHABILITATION IS REQUIRED DISCIPLINE WHERE THE RESPONDENT HAS RECEIVED A PRIVATE REPRIMAND AND TWO PUBLIC REPRIMANDS WITHIN THE LAST FIVE (5) YEARS.

The purposes of attorney discipline are as follows: the protection of the public, administration of justice, protection of the legal profession and protection of the favorable image of the legal profession, <u>The Florida Bar v. Larkin</u>, 447 So. 2d 1340, 1341 (Fla. 1984); <u>The Florida Bar v. Lord</u>, 433 So. 2d 986 (Fla. 1983). If these principles are to be addressed adequately in this case, it is the position of The Florida Bar that nothing less than a ninety-one (91) day suspension, requiring proof of rehabilitation prior to reinstatement, will be sufficient.

The referee's recommended ninety (90) day suspension is inadequate because the respondent has previously received significant discipline, all within the last five (5) years.

The conduct in the case at hand began in 1987 and continued until the clients discharged him in February, 1991. During this period of representation the respondent received a 1989 private reprimand for inadequate preparation of a real estate closing, <u>The Florida Bar v. Lawless</u>, The Florida Bar Case No. 86-17,309 (09C), Appendix, p. A8; a 1990 public reprimand by appearance before the Board of Governors for his misconduct in seeking to

-9-

have his client sign a release releasing respondent and Mr. Aboudraah from all liability in connection with their legal representation in an immigration matter. The client was not advised to discuss the matter with outside counsel and return of the client's \$1,600.00 in legal fees was contingent upon his signature, The Florida Bar v. Lawless, 564 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 1990), Appendix, p. A15. In early 1991, the respondent received written public reprimand plus two years probation for а incompetence and neglect in the handling of an immigration matter between 1985 and 1988, in which Mr. Aboudraah was also involved, The Florida Bar v. Lawless, 576 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1991), Appendix, p. A35. Nevertheless, the respondent continued to assure Mr. and Mrs. Seguin between 1987 and early 1990 that all was fine with their immigration case which Mr. Aboudraah was handling. The respondent was so unfamiliar with Mr. Aboudraah's handling of the Aboudraah had did not even know that Mr. case that he fraudulently extracted thousands of dollars from the Seguins over unaware that the Immigration and the He was vears. Naturalization Service had denied the Seguins' applications for He was unaware that the labor certification method was visas. inappropriate and an unlikely source of a visa for the Seguins. The respondent was well aware that Mr. Aboudraah had been subject to several INS investigations since 1986, T-186, one of which led to his 1991 imprisonment. The Seguins were not advised otherwise until Mr. Aboudraah closed his office. Although it is to his

-10-

credit that the respondent attempted to handle the Seguins' case appropriately after Mr. Aboudraah's 1990 INS investigation, the fact of his previous neglect and his failure to advise the Seguins and protect them from Mr. Aboudraah is untenable.

This is particularly true in view of the respondent's disciplinary history. The Florida Bar initially recommended a ninety (90) day suspension to the referee in this matter. Upon the standard review by the Board of Governors, The Florida Bar has determined that a ninety-one (91) day suspension requiring proof of rehabilitation is required in view of the respondent's significant discipline history. It is well settled that ethical violations warrant more serious discipline where the respondent has such a prior history, The Florida Bar v. Vernell, 374 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1979); The Florida Bar v. Reese, 421 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 1982); The Florida Bar v. Leopold, 399 So. 2d 978 (Fla. 1981). As this court noted in The Florida Bar v. Bern, 425 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1983), cumulative misconduct of a similar nature to previous misconduct warrants even more severe discipline than Mr. Bern was suspended for a period of three months otherwise. and one day requiring proof of rehabilitation where he had a disciplinary history of two private reprimands and one public reprimand. Only one of Mr. Bern's previous cases directly involved the same misconduct as the suspension case. In The Florida Bar v. Greene, 515 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1987), this court suspended Mr. Greene for ninety-one (91) days for failing to

-11-

supervise his nonlawyer employee where he had a prior private reprimand, two prior public reprimands and had been held in contempt for failing to observe the conditions of his probation.

Further, a ninety-one (91) day suspension is warranted due to the pattern of misconduct involved. In <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Dubbeld</u>, 594 So. 2d 735 (Fla. 1992), the court imposed a public reprimand rather than merely an admonishment of minor misconduct as recommended by the referee where the attorney had two prior admonishments of minor misconduct on his record. As the court noted, the incidents which gave rise to yet another complaint demonstrated a continuing pattern of misconduct upon which the respondent's prior discipline appeared to have had little effect. This is also true in the case at hand where the very same players were present twice previously; only the victims have changed.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Adler</u>, 589 So. 2d 899 (Fla. 1991), this court imposed an eighteen (18) month suspension where the attorney had commingled his own funds with client trust funds. The court found that the respondent's previous disciplinary history was relevant even where the prior disciplinary proceeding occurred after the instant violations. However it is well settled that "cumulative misconduct can be found when the misconduct occurs near in time with the other offenses, regardless of when discipline is imposed", <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Golden</u>, 566 So. 2d 1286, 1287 (Fla. 1990).

-12-

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions also call for a ninety-one (91) day suspension. At Standard 4.42, a suspension is appropriate for (a) a knowing failure to perform client services or (b) pattern of neglect causing injury or potential injury to the client. This is enhanced by the aggravating factors including 9.22(a) prior disciplinary offenses; (c) pattern of misconduct; (h) vulnerability of victim, and (j) indifference to making restitution.

The respondent has clearly failed to take heed of the importance of strict ethical adherence and the importance of diligence in protecting one's clients. Therefore, nothing less than a ninety-one (91) day suspension requiring proof of rehabilitation prior to reinstatement will serve the purposes of attorney discipline in this case.

-13-

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar respectfully prays that this Honorable Court will review the referee's report and recommendations, and impose a ninety-one (91) day suspension requiring proof of rehabilitation on the respondent, approve the referee's other recommendations, and order the respondent to pay costs in these proceedings currently totaling \$2,385.59.