PILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

V JUN 11 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

V

CASE NUMBER 80,117

WILLIAM F. LAWLESS,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF AND INITIAL BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL

John A. Weiss Attorney Number 0185229 P. O. Box 1167 Tallahassee, Florida 32302-1167 (904) 681-9010 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The referee improperly described each of Respondent's prior three disciplinary sanctions. His errors are conclusively shown by the disciplinary files appended to the Bar's initial brief. The referee's misapprehension as to the nature of the prior three disciplines may have resulted in his believing the present case involved repeated misconduct. Respondent submits that a review of his past disciplinary files necessitates this Court's modification of the referenced findings under paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of Section IV of his report.

In Point II of his brief, Respondent argues that the referee had no authority under Rule 3-5.1 of the Rules of Discipline to require reimbursement to the Seguins of the money they improperly paid to Mr. Aboudraah. That rule only requires restitution of excessive fees or trust funds improperly handled.

In the case at Bar, the Respondent received none of the money the Seguins paid to Mr. Aboudraah (which payments were directly contrary to the specific terms of their contract with Mr. Lawless) and, because he did not gain, he should not be required to reimburse the Seguins. They have brought a malpractice action against Respondent and that is the proper forum for the resolution of their dispute with Mr. Lawlesssin this regard.

In Point III, the Respondent argues that, once again, Rule 3-5.1 of the Rules of Discipline does not authorize the referee's recommendation that Respondent be permanently barred from using paralegals in his practice and that he be permanently barred from placing on any lawyer referral services. Such harsh remedies are not allowed by the Rules of Discipline and are completely unwarranted in the case at Bar.

In Point IV, Respondent argues that the referee's findings of fact to the extent that Respondent claimed to have no contact with Mr. Aboudraah in over two years is not supported by the evidence. The only testimony in this regard was Ms. Seguin's remark that Respondent stated, upon learning of their payments to Mr. Aboudraah in April 1990 (over two years after the last payment was made) that he had not "associated" with Mr. Aboudraah in two years. The Respondent also appeals the referee's failure to specifically find that it was Respondent who obtained an E-2 visa for the Seguins.

Finally, in Point V, the Respondent argues that the appropriate discipline for his misconduct is a public reprimand. His misconduct does not involve any actions subsequent to his past public reprimands and he immediately took steps to rectify the improper state of affairs upon learning of them.

A suspension requiring proof of rehabilitation, as argued by

the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar, is completely unwarranted where, as here, Respondent's misconduct involved no dishonest, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation and which did not involve any actions taken for Respondent's self-benefit.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE REFEREE'S DESCRIPTION OF RESPONDENT'S PRIOR THREE DISCIPLINES IMPROPERLY CHARACTERIZES RESPONDENT'S PAST GRIEVANCE HISTORY.

In Section V of his report, while discussing prior disciplinary measures, the referee improperly summarized each of Respondent's prior three disciplinary matters. In each instance, the referee made it appear that Respondent was disciplined for problems surrounding non-lawyers and for lapses in immigration matters. In each instance, he was wrong.

The significance of the referee's mis-characterization of Respondent's prior history is important in determining the discipline that he should receive in the instant case. Although the issue is argued below in Point V, if the referee was under a misapprehension as to the nature of Respondent's prior misconduct, it in all likelihood contributed to his recommendation that Respondent be disciplined for 90 days.

Bar Counsel attached copies of Respondent's three prior disciplinary cases to her Brief (pages A-8, A-15 and A-35 respectively). Those attachments include Respondent's May 17, 1989 private reprimand for conduct in 1983 and 1984; a public reprimand on October 5, 1990 for misconduct that happened in September 1988

and a public reprimand on January 23, 1991 for misconduct in 1988.

The most flagrant mistake by the referee regarding Respondent's disciplines was his characterization of Respondent's 1989 private reprimand as being one "for assisting a non-lawyer in the unlicensed practice of law". Nothing in Respondent's disciplinary file in this matter, as appended to the Bar's brief in pages A-8 through A-14, lends support for that characterization.

In fact, Respondent received his private reprimand for failing to prepare adequately in his representation of a client in a real estate transaction that closed in February 1984. Respondent was found guilty of engaging in conduct adversely reflecting on his fitness to practice and for handling a legal matter without adequate preparation.

Respondent's 1989 private reprimand had nothing to do with assisting a non-lawyer in the unlicensed practice of law.

On October 5, 1990, Respondent received a public reprimand (A-15) for asking a client to sign a general release of liability for Respondent and Mr. Aboudraah without first asking the client to consult with separate counsel. Neither the Bar's first amended complaint (A-24) nor its initial complaint (A29) charged Respondent with neglect of a legal matter. The first complaint did charge Respondent with failure to adequately supervise Mr. Aboudraah. However, that count was dropped in the second complaint.

The referee's characterization of Respondent's first public reprimand as being for neglect of an immigration matter is clearly erroneous. The reprimand was for obtaining a release without

referring the client to independent counsel.

The referee's description of Respondent's second public reprimand as being for "splitting legal fees with a non-lawyer" is also clearly erroneous. The report of referee in that case (A35) makes no mention whatsoever of splitting fees with a non-lawyer. Nor does Respondent's conditional guilty plea for consent judgment (A39). Even the Bar's complaint (A41) does not charge Respondent with splitting fees.

Respondent received his second public reprimand in January 1991 for handling a legal matter without the requisite competence and preparation.

POINT II

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT PAY TO THE SEQUINS \$12,546.00 IS IMPROPER BECAUSE THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR DO NOT PERMIT RESTITUTION FOR MONEY PAID TO A THIRD PARTY, THAT WAS PAID WITHOUT RESPONDENT'S KNOWLEDGE OR CONSENT, AND WHICH WAS NEVER RECEIVED BY RESPONDENT EITHER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY.

There is no authority for the referee's recommendation that Respondent be required to reimburse to the Seguins the \$12,546.00 that they paid to Mr. Aboudraah. None of that money was paid to Respondent T-51,85,180 and the Seguins payments were directly contrary to enumerated paragraphs three and five of the contract of employment that they signed with Respondent. The issue of the Seguins entitlement to payment from Respondent is a civil matter that should be resolved in the courts, not in disciplinary proceedings, The Florida Bar v Wall, 491 So.2d 549, 551 (Fla. 1986).

The Seguins currently have a malpractice action pending against Respondent in which they are seeking a return of the monies paid to Mr. Aboudraas. T-63. That is the proper forum for the resolution of their financial dispute with Respondent.

This is particularly true when there has been no evidence adduced as to the validity of the payments to Mr. Aboudraah. It is possible that Mr. Aboudraah legitimately used some of the money he received for the benefit of the Sequins.

Another factor to be explored in the civil proceeding, that was not delved into at final hearing, is the relationship of the Seguins to Mr. Aboudraah. Mr. Seguin admitted that he had performed services for Mr. Aboudraah's business T-86. Clearly the Seguins had a close relationship with Mr. Aboudraah.

While Respondent is not here arguing an "assumption of risk" doctrine in regard to the Seguins, this Court should consider the fact that the Seguins gave Respondent no notice whatsoever of their payments to Mr. Aboudraah until two years after the final payment was made T-51,85. The last payment to Mr. Aboudraah was in February 1988. Yet, the Seguins did not tell Respondent of their payments, clearly in contradiction of their contract with Mr. Lawless, until April 1990. As Mr. Seguin said, Respondent was surprised when he learned of the payments T-84. Not only did Mr. Lawless not receive any of the \$12,431.00 paid to Mr. Aboudraah, but he (quite properly) obtained the Seguins E-2 visa for them without requiring the payment of the final \$2,500.00 of the \$5,000.00 contract that they signed with him.

The referee's recommendation is not allowed by Rule 3-5.1 (Types of Discipline) of the Rules of Discipline. Paragraphs (h) and (i), captioned Forfeiture of Fees and Restitution respectively, set forth the circumstances under which a referee may order restitution. Neither of those circumstances appear in the case at Bar.

Rule 3-5.1(h) allows a referee to require the <u>forfeiture</u> of fees after a respondent has been found guilty of "entering into, charging, or collecting" an improper fee. The rule also allows a referee to order the return of the "excessive amount" of a "clearly excessive fee". There is no finding of any improper fee by Respondent in the case at Bar.

Rule 3-5.1(i) allows a referee to order restitution to a complainant only

If the disciplinary order finds that the Respondent has received a clearly excessive, illegal, or prohibited fee or that the Respondent has converted trust funds or property.

In such instances the amount of restitution shall be specifically set forth in the disciplinary order or agreement and shall not exceed the amount by which a fee is clearly excessive, in the case of a prohibited or illegal fee shall not exceed the amount of such fee, or in the case of conversion shall not exceed the amount of the conversion established in disciplinary proceedings.

Respondent has not been charged with or found guilty of charging a clearly excessive fee. He certainly has not converted any trust funds. Accordingly, there is no authority for the referee's ordering reimbursement to the Seguins of the money they

improperly paid to Mr. Aboudraah.

The <u>Wall</u> case, cited above, although it predated the aforementioned rules, supports the proposition that a civil action is the appropriate vehicle to determine the amount of money that a lawyer owes to a third party. In <u>Wall</u>, a title insurance company was required to pay off claims against policies issued by Mr. Wall in the amount of \$161,000.00. The Bar demanded that Mr. Wall be required to make restitution to the title insurer. The Supreme Court agreed with the referee that restitution to that third party was inappropriate.

An analogous situation arose in <u>The Florida Bar v Castle</u>, 512 So.2d 162, 163 (Fla. 1987). There, the Supreme Court stated that

We find no authority for, and do not approve, the referee's recommendation that Castle pay Vaccaro the amount of \$345.00 as reimbursement for auto repair expenses alleged in the suit subsequently dismissed because of Castle's failure to appear at the pre-trial conference.

Even The Florida Bar has acknowledged that disciplinary proceedings are not a substitute for civil actions in instances involving failure to pay personal debts where there is no dishonesty. The Florida Bar v Cook, 567 So.2nd 1379, 1380 (Fla. 1990). There this Court noted that:

Bar now argues that disciplinary proceedings are not appropriate in cases such this which do notinvolve misrepresentation, dishonesty, deceit, or fraudulent procurement and which involve a dispute over an attorney's failure to pay a personal debt. The Bar argues this dispute is more appropriately resolved through a civil action rather than through a Bar disciplinary proceeding.

In <u>Cook</u>, at the Bar's urging, this Court reversed the referee's finding of quilt.

If the Seguins are entitled to any reimbursement from Respondent, their civil suit will determine that issue. Disciplinary proceedings are not a substitute for civil proceedings. Rule 3-5.1 does not allow for reimbursement of payments made to a third party and, accordingly, the referee's recommendation in this regard should be rejected.

POINT III

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATIONS THAT RESPONDENT DISASSOCIATE HIMSELF FROM SUPERVISING ANY PARALEGALS IN HIS PRACTICE IN THE FUTURE AND THAT HE REMOVE HIS NAME FROM LAWYER REFERRAL LISTS ARE NOT AUTHORIZED BY THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR AND ARE COMPLETELY UNJUSTIFIED BY THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

The referee's recommendation that Respondent disassociate himself from supervising any paralegals in his practice in the future is not authorized by Rule 3-5.1 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and is completely unjustified by the facts of this case.

Just as there is no authority in Rule 3-5.1 for the referee's recommendation that Respondent reimburse the Seguins for money paid to Mr. Aboudraah, there is no authority in the Rules of Discipline for the referee's recommendation that Respondent "disassociate himself from supervising any paralegals in his practice in the future" (Par. IV.2.) and that Respondent "remove his name from the list of lawyers maintained by any lawyer referral service" (Par. IV.5.). Not only is there no authority for these recommendations,

but they fly in the face of common sense. Had the referee limited his recommendations to prohibiting Respondent from supervising paralegals whose offices were separate and apart from his own, perhaps there might have been some justification (if authorized by the rules) for his recommendations. However, Mr. Aboudraah was a "con artist" T-119 whose offices were separate and apart from Respondent's T-172. There is no evidence that in-house paralegals supervised by Respondent have caused any harm to the public.

More importantly, if this Court allows referees to prohibit forever the supervision of paralegals, the next logical step is that it would be proper for a referee to recommend that a lawyer be prohibited from using legal secretaries. That sort of recommendation would be absurd. But it is the next logical step after that made by the referee.

Similarly, the referee's recommendation that Respondent remove his name from all referral service lists bears no nexus to the facts of the case at Bar. If authorized by the rules, perhaps the referee's recommendation that Respondent remove his name from lawyer referral lists for immigration matters might be appropriate. (Respondent is no longer practicing immigration law T-120,194). However, a removal from all lawyer referral lists is overbroad and should not be adopted.

Respondent submits that even if the referee had the authority to ban the use of paralegals and forbid placement on lawyer referral lists, that his prohibition could not exceed the three years probationary period allowed under Rule 3-5.1(c).

The referee's recommendations in regard to the use of paralegals and referral lists are overbroad, are without authority under the Rules of Discipline, and are unwarranted. These recommendations should be rejected.

POINT IV

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT, AS SET FORTH BELOW, ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY ANY EVIDENCE AND, THEREFORE, SHOULD NOT BE ADOPTED.

A. The referee's finding that Respondent claimed he had "no contact with Mr. Aboudraah in over two years...." is not supported by the evidence before the Referee.

In Paragraph II.21. the referee made the finding that the Respondent claimed he had had no direct contact with Mr. Aboudraah in over two years. There is no basis for that finding. Mr. Lawless did not so testify and neither did the Seguins. In fact, the evidence was to the contrary. T-31,32,33. (The referee's confusion stemmed from Ms. Sequin's single statement that Respondent allegedly said he had not been "associated" with Mr. Aboudraah for two years. T-39. The meaning of the word "associated" cannot be equated to mean "no contact":

B. The referee failed to find specifically that it was Respondent who obtained the Seguins' E-2 visa for them in February 1991.

In Paragraph II.24., the referee makes the following finding:

Due to the assistance of their new immigration attorney, the Seguins have obtained E-2 status and can legally live in the United States and operate their business.

The referee's finding gives the impression that the new attorney secured the Seguins' E-2 status. In fact, Respondent

obtained their E-2 status for them. T-90,95. The Bar's expert witness, Ms. Townsend, testified that Respondent did a "fine" job of obtaining their E-2 status once Aboudraah's mistake was learned. T-118.

Respondent recognizes the unusual posture he has taken on this point. Technically, the referee did not make an erroneous finding. However, the impact of his omission is material. Respondent argues it is significant because there must be no misunderstanding about Ms. Henin's role in this case. She merely obtained a <u>renewal</u> of the E-2 status for the Seguins.

POINT V
(Addressing the Bar's point on appeal)

THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE FOR RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT IN THIS CASE, NOTWITHSTANDING HIS PRIOR DISCIPLINARY HISTORY, IS A PUBLIC REPRIMAND OR, AT MOST, A 90 DAY SUSPENSION AS RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE.

Respondent submits that the appropriate disciplinary sanction for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness and for failing to supervise a non-lawyer employee (who was technically not an employee) is a public reprimand. See, e.g., The Florida Bar v VanDeventer, 368 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1979) (failure to maintain complete records of trust funds, failure to render appropriate accountings regarding estate funds and failing to supervise legal secretary with the result that she was able to misappropriate estate funds); The Florida Bar v Armas, 518 So.2d 919 (Fla. 1988) (failure to supervise office manager resulting in mishandling of trust funds and, as a second count, failure to maintain proper trust account records); and The Florida Bar v Fields, 520 So.2d 272 (Fla. 1988)

(numerous counts including driving while intoxicated and battery and charging illegal interest on fees owed by clients due to failure to supervise his non-lawyer employees). The latter case involved a public reprimand despite the fact that Mr. Fields had been previously disciplined for the same improper billing offenses and he had not corrected those deficiencies by the second trial. See The Florida Bar v Fields, 482 So.2d 1354 (Fla. 1986).

Enhancement of Respondent's discipline is not appropriate in this case because none of his prior disciplines were for failure to supervise a non-lawyer employee. Even if this offense involved the same misconduct as before, a suspension in excess of 90 days would be completely inappropriate. For example, in The Florida Bar v Carter, 502 So.2d 904 (Fla. 1987), the accused lawyer was suspended for only three months for failing to supervise his office staff in their handling of estate records. Mr. Carter was permitted automatic reinstatement despite the fact that he had twice previously received public reprimands. The Florida Bar v Carter, 410 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1982) and The Florida Bar v Carter, 429 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1983).

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